# RECEIVED

## 04-26-2018

### CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALSOF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV

### Appeal No. 2017AP002536CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RONNIE CECIL PEEBLES N1414 COUNTY ROAD E RED GRANIT, WI 54970

Defendant-Appellant.

### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT RONNIE CECIL PEEBLES**

An Appeal from a Judgment of the Circuit Court of Waushara County, Wisconsin, the Honorable Guy Dutcher Presiding

Circuit Court Case No. 2016CM477

Matthew L. Goldin State Bar No. 1000654 Goldin & Lennon, LLC 125 Church Avenue Oshkosh, WI 54901 Telephone: (920)235-9000 Fax: (920)235-9001

## **

### I. STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED.

1. Whether the trial court erred in denying the Defendant's motion for an adjournment of the jury trial on the grounds of the Defendant's health/illness

prior to the commencement of the jury trial?

Answered by the Appellant: Yes.

### **II. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION.**

The arguments presented in the brief sufficiently address the matters before the appellate court. Defendant-Appellant does not request that this case be scheduled for oral argument. Further, Wisconsin law governing a defendant's right to an adjournment on the grounds of illness is somewhat unclear and the case law and judicial bench books provide little guidance. It would be beneficial to have a written opinion regarding a court's proper exercise of discretion in deciding whether to adjourn a jury trial on the grounds of a Defendant's illness.

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

### A. PROCEDURAL POSTURE.

The State of Wisconsin initiated the current criminal case via filing a summons and complaint in Waushara County, Wisconsin against the Defendant, alleging two criminal misdemeanor violations: battery in violation of s.940.19(1), and Disorderly Conduct in violation of s.947.01(1), on November 9, 2016. The Defendant appeared pro se' before the Waushara Circuit Court on December 20, 2016, was advised of his right to counsel by the court, and entered not guilty pleas to the respective charges. The trial court set bond at 500.00 cash on December 20, 2016, which was duly posted.

The trial court scheduled a status conference on January 19, 2017, where the District Attorney discussed a possible resolution with the Defendant that was rejected. The Defendant notified the court that he intended to retain his own attorney in the matter, and the court scheduled another status conference for February 21, 2017.

At the February 21, 2017 status conference, the Defendant appeared with Attorney John B. Selsing and requested that the matter be scheduled for a pretrial conference with the Waushara District Attorney. A Pretrial conference was scheduled as well as a return to court for status conference on March 22, 2017.

On March 22, 2017, the trial court conducted a status conference and was notified that the matter remained unresolved. The trial court again scheduled

another pretrial conference for April 18, 2017, with the understanding that the matter would be scheduled for jury trial if there was no resolution by the April 18, 2017 pretrial conference. The Defendant filed both jury instructions and *Motions in Limine*' on March 27, 2017.

A final pretrial conference occurred on April 18, 2017, where the Defendant appeared with Attorney John B. Selsing and rejected the State's plea offer. The trial court scheduled a jury trial for August 24, 2017.

CCAP records indicate that the District Attorney requested an adjournment of the jury trial on July 13, 2017, and the court adjourned the jury trial pursuant to state's request. On August 1, 2017, the trial court held a telephone status conference with attorneys and established a new jury trial date for September 29, 2017, due to the substitution of legal defense counsel. At the telephone status conference, Attorney Larry J. Lloyd appeared on behalf of the Defendant.

The trial court conducted a jury trial on September 29, 2017. Jury found Defendant guilty of battery in count 1; and not guilty of disorderly conduct in count 2. The trial court scheduled sentencing for November 2, 2017.

The trial court adjourned the sentencing on November 2, 2017 as a result of receipt of a letter from Theda Care Emergency Department regarding Defendant's medical condition. Trial court rescheduled sentencing for December 5, 2017.

The trial court sentenced the Defendant on December 5, 2017 to one year of probation and to 120 days jail imposed and stayed. Further, the trial court imposed 15 days jail as a condition of probation along with other related conditions.

The Defendant filed a timely notice of appeal on December 26, 2017, along with other related appellate paperwork. The Defendant filed a motion with the trial court seeking a stay of the jail time pending appeal on December 27, 2017. The trial court denied Defense request for a stay pending appeal on January 4, 2018.

This brief is authored in support of the Defendant's appeal and duly filed with the Wisconsin Court of Appeals pursuant to statute.

### **B. FACTS.**

The Waushara County Circuit Court called the case of <u>State of Wisconsin</u> <u>v. Ronnie Peebles</u>, Case No. 16CM477 for jury trial on September 29, 2017. Transcript at 1. Assistant District Attorney Steven Anderson appeared for the State of Wisconsin. Attorney Larry Lloyd appeared for Ronnie Peebles (hereafter referred to as "Peebles"). Transcript at 3. Trial court notes that at the time case called, Peebles was within vicinity of courtroom and proclaimed that his illness was precluding him from participating in the jury trial process. Transcript at 3. The trial court invited Attorney Lloyd to advise the court regarding Peebles' status. Transcript at 3.

Attorney Lloyd advised that he spoke with Peebles and that his client had called the sheriff's office earlier in the morning and Peebles advised he was very ill with a stomach virus or something similar. Transcript at 3. Attorney Lloyd advised the trial court that Peebles did <u>not</u> appear well enough to be placed on the witness stand and go forward with the jury trial that day. Transcript at 3.

After inquiry into the State's position concerning moving forward with the jury trial, Assistant District Attorney Anderson indicates that the State was sympathetic to Attorney Lloyd's predicament. Transcript at 3. Assistant District Attorney Anderson informed trial court that the State had its witnesses subpoenaed and had the sheriff's deputies present. Transcript at 3. Attorney Anderson indicated that the county had to fill two road officer's spots with other officers to arrange for testimony. Transcript at 3. Attorney Anderson indicated that the victim had taken a day off of work to testify, and therefore, while sympathetic to the defense position, requested the trial court proceed with a jury trial. Transcript at 3-4.

The trial court indicates that it was respectful of Attorney Lloyd's predicament. Transcript at 4. The trial court indicates that the court was dealing with a circumstance that had been dragged out nearly a year. Transcript at 4. The trial court indicates that at approximately 7:30am that morning, that Peebles contacted the Waushara County Sheriff's Department to report that he was ill and unavailable. Transcript at 4. The Waushara County Sheriff's Department communicated that message to the Clerk of Courts. Transcript at 4.

The trial court states that much effort and resources invested in making court operable for a jury trial that day. Transcript at 4. The trial court indicates the jury was ready. Transcript at 4. Witnesses were ready. Transcript at 4. Legal counsel was present. Transcript at 4. The trial court indicates it is operational, and

that Peebles was professing that he was too ill to go ahead with trial without any type of objective affirmation of his condition. Transcript at 4.

The trial court ruled that the jury trial was going to move forward as scheduled. Transcript at 4. The trial court indicated that the matter had been drawn out and that it had been dragged out with multiple status conferences. Transcript at 4. The trial court noted the lack of progress as of the date of jury trial and concluded that the matter needed to be concluded on the day scheduled for jury trial. Transcript at 4.

The trial court concluded that there was a reticence on the part of the Defendant to proceed to ultimate determination in the matter. Transcript at 5. The trial court indicated that the jury trial would proceed whether Peebles wished to actually appear and participate or not. Transcript at 5.

Trial court indicated that Peebles was onsite, and that his absence from the courtroom was voluntary and that Peebles had elected to remove himself from the proceedings. Transcript at 5. Peebles entered courtroom at some point relatively early in proceedings prior to jury entry. Transcript at 8-9.

### **IV. ARGUMENTS.**

## A. Trial Court Abused Discretion In Denying Jury Trial Adjournment.

The decision regarding whether to grant an adjournment is within the discretion of the trial court. <u>State v. Davis</u>, 66 Wis.2d 636(1975). The denial of a continuance potentially implicates the Sixth Amendment right to counsel and the

Fourteenth Amendment right to due process of law. <u>Phifer v. State</u>, 64 Wis.2d 24(1974); <u>Ungar v. Sarafite</u>, 376 U.S. 575(1964); <u>State v. Reppin</u>, 35 Wis.2d 377(1967); <u>State v. Wollman</u>, 88 Wis.2d 459(1979).

In determining whether a court abused its discretion in denying a request for a continuance, a single inquiry is made. This inquiry involves the balancing of a defendant's constitutional right to adequate representation by counsel against the public interest in the prompt and efficient administration of justice. This balancing is completed in light of the circumstances that appear of record. <u>Phifer</u>, *supra* at 31; <u>Ungar</u>, *supra* at 575; <u>Avery v. Alabama</u>, 308 U.S. 444(1940); <u>United States ex</u> <u>rel. Williams v. Twomey</u>, 510 F.2d 634(7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1975); <u>United States v. Miller</u>, 508 F.2d 544(7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1974); <u>United States v. Knight</u>, 443 F.2d 174(6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1971).

The constitutional right to legal counsel includes the right to consultation between client and attorney. <u>Avery</u>, *supra* at 469. Nevertheless, the determination whether to grant a continuance lies within the discretion of the trial court, however, opportunity to confer, to consult, and to prepare for trial must be given. <u>Avery</u>, *supra* at 446.

An abuse of discretion may be found where the adjudicator has failed to exercise sound, reasonable, and legal decision-making skills. <u>Wilton v. Seven</u> <u>Falls Co.</u>, 515 U.S. 277(1995). In all cases, a judge must exercise discretion that is discreet, circumspect, and prudent. Further, while not capable of exact definition, it is recognized that discretion is not absolutely without elements, conditions, or limitations.

The term implies the absence of a hard and fast rule, yet it should not be interpreted as a word for arbitrariness or unstable caprice. <u>State v. Ferranto</u>, 112 Ohio ST. 667 (Ohio 1925). "Abuse of discretion" does not imply willful abuse or intentional wrong; rather, it is such that a court's decision-making may exceed the bounds of a reasonable decision based upon all the appropriately considered circumstances. <u>Sharon v. Sharon</u>, 75 Cal.1(Cal. 1888). An abuse of discretion is really a discretion exercised to promote an end or purpose which is not justified by, or clearly against, reason and evidence. <u>Murray v. Buell</u>, 74 Wis. 14(1889).

As applied to the current case, Peebles was ill the day of his trial. Peebles contacted the Waushara Sheriff's Department the morning prior to trial to report his illness. Peebles contacted his attorney to inform him of his illness. When the trial commenced, Peebles was not able to be in the courtroom due to illness. The trial court acknowledged receipt of information from the sheriff's department and the clerk of court's office regarding Peebles' illness. Attorney Lloyd represented to the court that Peebles was suffering from a stomach condition and indicated that his condition, at that time, precluded him from testifying and participating in the proceedings.

The trial court recognized Attorney Lloyd's predicament. The Assistant District Attorney recognized Attorney Lloyd's predicament. The trial court made absolutely no inquiry into the nature of Peebles ailment at the time of the jury trial. Rather, the trial court determined that proceeding with the jury trial was justified

due to the fact that witnesses, attorneys, and the court were available the day of the jury trial.

No determination was made regarding the nature of Peebles' illness or how that illness may impact his ability to participate in the proceedings. The whole purpose of the jury trial was to allow for the fair and orderly administration of justice. How can an ill defendant present a plausible defense? How might illness impact communications with defense counsel? How might illness impact a defendant's right to participate in the proceedings? These are substantive questions bearing upon a defendant's due process trial rights. No answers to these questions were determined.

Both the prosecution and the defense must be allowed to present their cases to the jury. This presentation includes a defendant's right to consult with a defense attorney during a trial. How might an ill defendant be impacted where he/she is forced to go forward with a jury trial while ill? What is the nature of the illness? These are the questions that the trial court failed to answer the morning of the jury trial when it decided to proceed despite Defendant's claim of illness.

In this case, the trial court should have inquired of the Defendant regarding the nature of his ailment and determined how such an ailment might impact his ability to put forward a defense. Rather, the trial court weighed the factors of judicial efficiency and convenience as the overwhelming factors requiring the trial

to proceed.<sup>1</sup> As a result of the court's absence of an inquiry into the Defendant's ailment, the court could not effectively weigh the appropriate factors in the proper exercise of discretion in determining Defense's request for an adjournment.

The trial court was required to balance all factors and apply reasoned judgment to its decision to proceed with the jury trial. Rather, the trial court made a decision without inquiry into relevant and material facts requiring determination before reasoned judgment could be applied to the question regarding whether to adjourn the jury trial on the grounds of the Defendant's illness.<sup>2</sup> Just as the importance of having a competent jury evaluate evidence, a defendant must also be afforded similar consideration. In a nutshell, the problem in the current case involved the trial court's exercise of discretion in a manner that did not consider appropriate factors regarding the physical health condition of the Defendant. In this case, the trial court's exercise of discretion without full information represented an abuse of the court's discretion and should be reversed on appeal.

### V. CONCLUSION.

This is a case where a Defendant has appealed a trial court jury trial determination after he has completed the imposed jail sentence. Peebles could have simply moved on, saved the expense and aggravation associated with an appeal and further legal challenge. However, Peebles genuinely feels aggrieved by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Trial court indicated that matter had been drawn out and dragged out at page 4 of transcript. However, review of procedural posture does not support this conclusion.

the trial court's requirement that he defend his misdemeanor criminal case at a time when he was physically ill.

Peebles illness impacted his ability to participate in the jury trial process and consult with his defense attorney. Possibly, this explains why the jury verdict was inconsistent, i.e., not guilty of a disorderly conduct while guilty of a battery. The trial court's failure to make inquiry into the nature of the Defendant's illness establishes a rush to judgment on the part of the trial court and an erroneous exercise of discretion requiring reversal.