RECEIVED

07-02-2018

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2017AP2536-CR

RONNIE CECIL PEEBLES,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from Circuit Court for Waushara County The Honorable Guy D. Dutcher, Presiding, Case No. 16-CM-477

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN'S RESPONSE BRIEF

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin STEVEN P. ANDERSON State Bar #1090034 Waushara County District Attorney's Office Post Office Box 490 Wautoma, Wisconsin 54982-0490 (920) 787-0407 (920) 787-0435 (Fax) steve.anderson@da.wi.gov

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)2. Instead, the State will present additional facts in the "Argument" portion of its brief.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING PEEBLES' MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE

A. Applicable Legal Principles And Standards Of Review

"The granting or denial of a continuance is within the discretion of the trial court." *Phifer v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 24, 30, 218 N.W.2d 354 (1974) (*citing State v. White*, 53 Wis. 2d 549, 554, 193 N.W.2d 36 (1972); *Elam v. State*, 50 Wis. 2d 383, 389, 184 N.W.2d 176 (1971)). "A denial of a continuance potentially implicates the

Sixth Amendment right to counsel and the Fourteenth Amendment right to due process of law." State v. Wollman, 86 Wis. 2d 459, 468, 273 N.W.2d 225 (1979) (citing Phifer, 64 Wis. 2d at 30-31). "In determining whether a court has abused its discretion by the denial of a continuance, a single inquiry is to be made. This inquiry requires the balancing of the defendant's constitutional right to adequate representation by counsel against the public interest and the prompt and efficient administration of justice. As in all reviews of alleged abuse of trial court discretion, this balancing test must be done in light of all the circumstances that appear of record." Id. (citing Phifer, 64 Wis. 2d at 31).

"[T]he constitutional right to counsel includes the right to consultation between client and attorney and the opportunity for preparation for trial but also noted that the Constitution does not require any particular interval between the appointment of counsel and trial. The mere denial of a motion for continuance does not in itself deny the constitutional right to assistance of counsel. The determination of whether a continuance is to be granted lies within the discretion of the trial court, but an opportunity to confer, to consult, and to prepare for trial must be given." Wollman, 86 Wis. 2d at 468-69 (citing Avery v. Alabama, 308 U.S. 444, 446 (1940)).

The Supreme Court of Wisconsin in *Phifer* applied a balancing test "to review the exercise of a trial court's discretion on a request for the substitution of trial counsel with the associated request for a continuance." *Phifer*, 64 Wis. 2d at 31. Factors adopted by the *Phifer* Court included: "1. The length of the delay requested; 2. Whether the 'lead' counsel has associates prepared to try the case in his absence; 3 Whether other continuances had been requested and received by the defendant; 4. The convenience or inconvenience to the parties, witnesses and the court; 5. Whether the delay seems to be for legitimate reasons; or whether its purpose is dilatory; 6. Other relevant factors." *Id.* (citing Giacalone v. Lucas, 445 F.2d 1238, 1240 (6th Cir. 1971)).

B. Application Of Principles and Standards To Facts Of This Case.

Peebles contends that the failure to adjourn the start of his trial due to his health was error. Appellant's brief at 6-11. Peebles is entitled to no relief on this claim for two reasons.

First, the trial court reasonably and properly exercised its discretion under the balancing test used when reviewing a denial of a continuance. The record clearly reflects that the trial court considered the defendant's physical condition and balanced that

against the community's and court's interest in the efficient administration of justice.

Peebles's trial counsel, Larry Lloyd, explained to the trial court that Peebles "was very ill with some sort of a stomach virus or whatever the case may be" and Peebles did not appear to Attorney Lloyd "to be well enough to be placed on the stand to actually go forth with proceedings today." R: 44-3; Appellant's App. at 3. The trial court noted that Peebles did not provide notice of his alleged illness until 7:30 a.m. the morning of trial when he called to say he was not coming. R: 44-4; Appellant's App. at 4. The trial court noted Peebles professed illness "without any type of objective affirmation of his condition." R: 44-4; Appellant's App. at 4. No evidence is in the record of any medical testimony or documentation presented to the trial court corroborating Peebles's alleged illness.

The trial court noted that the case had been "dragged out through the process for nearly a year" and had been dragged out with multiple status conferences. R: 44-4; Appellant's App. at 4. The trial court stated, "[w]e just haven't made progress." R: 44-4; Appellant's App. at 4. The trial court concluded that it was "in a position where it must conclude that there is a reticence on Mr. Peebles's part to proceed to the ultimate determination that needs to

be undertaken by the Jury to bring this matter to a conclusion, and today is the day." R: 44-4-5; Appellant's App. at 4-5.

The trial court considered what would have been involved if the trial had to be rescheduled. The State noted that all of the State's witnesses were subpoenaed. R: 44-3; Appellant's App. at 3. The State explained that the county's only two-day road officers scheduled for that day were present in court and additional officers had to be brought in to fill in for the officers at trial. Transcript at 3. The State noted that the victim in the case took a day off of work to be present for trial. R: 44-3-4; Appellant's App. at 3-4. The trial court observed that, "[t]here has been a great deal of effort, and a lot of resources have been invested in making our court operable for a jury trial today." R: 44-4; Appellant's App. at 4. The trial court noted that the jury was ready and counsel was present. R: 44-4; Appellant's App. at 4.

Second, the court objectively made the correct conclusion in denying Peebles's request to continue the case as no prejudice has been established. Peebles argues that a determination was not made "regarding the nature of Peebles's illness or how that illness may impact his ability to participate in the proceedings." Appellant's brief at 9. However, the record answers that question. Prior to the

jury entering the courtroom, and while pretrial motions were being discussed, Peebles returned to the court. R: 44-8; Appellant's App. at 8. No evidence is in the record nor argument made by Peebles that he did not actively participate in the trial proper following his return. Following the State resting its case, the trial court held a colloquy with Peebles regarding his Fifth Amendment right and Sixth Amendment right regarding testifying and not testifying. R: 44-98-100; Respondent's App. at 16-18. Peebles told the trial court that he had an adequate opportunity to discuss this issue with trial counsel. R: 44-100; Respondent's App. at 18. Peebles then proceeded to take the stand and testify. R: 44-101-109; Respondent's App. at 19-27.

No evidence is in the record that Peebles did not have adequate opportunity to confer, consult, and prepare with trial counsel. No evidence is in the record that Peebles's trial counsel performed poorly at trial. Like in *Wollman*, this record "is devoid of either actual prejudice, in the sense that the time for preparation was fundamentally unfair, or of any specific prejudice, in the sense that the defendant was denied either due process or the effective right of counsel, because it would be reasonable to assume that more

adequate preparation would have provided a more effective defense." *Wollman*, 86 Wis. 2d at 470.

In light of all the facts and circumstances of the case, the trial court properly balanced the possible prejudice to Peebles against the clear prejudice to the administration of justice when it declined to continue the case. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the requested continuance.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm Peebles's judgment of conviction and deny his motion for postconviction relief.